MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE LOUISVILLE METRO PLANNING COMMISSION July 19, 2018

A meeting of the Louisville Metro Planning Commission was held on July 19, 2018 at 1:00 p.m. at the Old Jail Building, located at 514 W. Liberty Street, Louisville, Kentucky.

Commission members present:

Vince Jarboe, Chair Marilyn Lewis, Vice Chair Jeff Brown Robert Peterson Emma Smith David Tomes

Commission members absent:

Rich Carlson Lula Howard Donald Robinson

Staff Members present:

Joe Reverman, Planning and Design Assistant Director Joel Dock, Planner II Jay Luckett, Planner I Beth Stuber, Transportation Engineer Supervisor Paul Whitty, Legal Counsel Pamela M. Brashear, Management Assistant

The following matters were considered:

APPROVAL OF MINUTES

JULY 5, 2018 PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING MINUTES

On a motion by Commissioner Lewis, seconded by Commissioner Peterson, the following resolution was adopted.

RESOLVED, that the Planning Commission does hereby **APPROVE** the minutes of its meeting conducted on July 5, 2018.

The vote was as follows:

YES: Commissioners Brown, Lewis, Peterson, Smith and Jarboe NOT PRESENT FOR THIS CASE: Commissioners Carlson, Howard and Robinson ABSTAINING: Commissioner Tomes

BUSINESS SESSION CASE NO. 17ZONE1070

Request: R-7, Multi-Family Residential to C-2, Commercial

Project Name: Gas and Convenience Store

Location: 4949 Terry Road

Owner: Gilbert and Dorothy Mettling

Applicant: Axis Investments, LLC

Representative: Cliff Ashburner, Dinsmore & Shohl, LLP

Jurisdiction: Louisville Metro
Council District: 1 – Jessica Green

Discussion:

00:06:38 Mr. Whitty stated that when this case went to Metro Council, it indicated the request was a change in zoning from R-7 to C-2. It should be R-4 to C-2. The public notifications were correct.

An audio/visual recording of the Planning Commission hearing related to this case is available on the Planning & Design Services website, or you may contact the Customer Service staff to view the recording or to obtain a copy.

On a motion by Commissioner Peterson, seconded by Commissioner Smith, the following resolution was adopted.

RESOLVED, that the Louisville Metro Planning Commission does hereby **AMEND** the record to show the request is a change in zoning from R-4, Single Family Residential to C-2, Commercial.

The vote was as follows:

YES: Commissioners Brown, Lewis, Peterson, Smith, Tomes and Jarboe

NO: No one

NOT PRESENT AND NOT VOTING: Commissioners Carlson, Howard and

BUSINESS SESSION CASE NO. 18STREETS1008

Request: Closure of public right-of-way

Project Name: Brook Street Holdings
Location: 1477 South Brook Street
Owner: Brook Street Holdings, LLC

Applicant: Brook Street Holdings, LLC

Brooks Hower

4010 Dupont Circle, Suite 700

Louisville, Ky. 40207

Representative: Milestone Design

Rick Williamson, Jr.

108 Daventry Lane, Suite 300

Louisville, Ky. 40223

Jurisdiction: Louisville Metro Council District: 6 – David James

Case Manager: Jay Luckett – Planner I

The staff report prepared for this case was incorporated into the record. The Commissioners received this report in advance of the hearing, and this report was available to any interested party prior to the public hearing. (Staff report is part of the case file maintained in Planning and Design Services offices, 444 S. 5th Street.)

Discussion

00:08:40 Mr. Luckett presented the case.

An audio/visual recording of the Planning Commission hearing related to this case is available on the Planning & Design Services website, or you may contact the Customer Service staff to view the recording or to obtain a copy.

On a motion by Commissioner Brown, seconded by Commissioner Tomes, the following resolution was adopted based the testimony heard today.

RESOLVED, that the Louisville Metro Planning Commission does hereby **RECOMMEND** that the Louisville Metro Council **APPROVE** the request to close an unimproved alley located north of E Hill St, east of S Brook St and west of an unnamed alley.

The vote was as follows:

BUSINESS SESSION CASE NO. 18STREETS1008

YES: Commissioners Brown, Lewis, Peterson, Smith, Tomes and Jarboe

NO: No one

NOT PRESENT AND NOT VOTING: Commissioners Carlson, Howard and

PUBLIC HEARING CASE NO. 17STREETS1018

Request: Street/Alley Closure Project Name: Reamers Road

Location: 12911 Reamers Road

Owner: Louisville Metro

Applicant: HP HQ, LLC

12949 Shelbyville Road, Suite 101

Louisville, Ky. 40243

Representative: Bardenwerper, Talbott & Roberts, PLLC

William B. Bardenwerper

1000 North Hurstbourne Parkway, 2nd floor

Louisville, Ky. 40223

Jurisdiction: Louisville Metro
Council District: 17 - Glen Stuckel

Case Manager: Joel Dock, AICP, Planner II

Notice of this public hearing appeared in <u>The Courier Journal</u>, a notice was posted on the property, and notices were sent by first class mail to those adjoining property owners whose names were supplied by the applicants.

The staff report prepared for this case was incorporated into the record. The Commissioners received this report in advance of the hearing, and this report was available to any interested party prior to the public hearing. (Staff report is part of the case file maintained in Planning and Design Services offices, 444 S. 5th Street.)

Agency Testimony:

00:10:21 Joel Dock discussed the case summary, standard of review and staff analysis from the staff report.

The following spoke in favor of this request:

Nick Pregliasco, Bardenwerper, Talbott and Roberts, PLLC, 1000 North Hurstbourne Parkway, 2nd floor, Louisville, Ky. 40223

Summary of testimony of those in favor:

00:12:26 Mr. Pregliasco gave a power point presentation. The Water Company has reviewed this case and has no concerns. The Water Company will maintain access.

Deliberation

PUBLIC HEARING CASE NO. 17STREETS1018

00:15:11 Planning Commission deliberation.

An audio/visual recording of the Planning Commission hearing related to this case is available on the Planning & Design Services website, or you may contact the Customer Service staff to view the recording or to obtain a copy.

On a motion by Commissioner Brown, seconded by Commissioner Peterson, the following resolution was adopted based on the standard of review and staff analysis and testimony heard today.

WHEREAS, the Louisville Metro Planning Commission finds that adequate public facilities are available to serve existing and future needs of the community. The proposed closure does not result in an increase in demand on public facilities or services.

WHEREAS, the Commission further finds that easements will be required as requested by utility agencies. The applicant shall coordinate with LG&E prior to recordation to provide all necessary easements.

WHEREAS, the Commission further finds that any cost associated with the rights-of-way to be closed will be the responsibility of the applicant or developer, including the cost of improvements to those rights-of-way and adjacent rights-of-way

WHEREAS, the Commission further finds that the requested closure is in compliance the Goals, Objectives and Plan Elements of the Comprehensive Plan as Guideline 7, Policy 1 provides that those who propose new developments bear or reasonably share in the costs of the public facilities and services made necessary by development; Guideline 7, Policy 6 strives to ensure that transportation facilities of new developments are compatible with and support access to surrounding land uses, and contribute to the appropriate development of adjacent lands; Guideline 7, Policy 9 provides that the Planning Commission or legislative body may require the developer to dedicate rightsof-way for street, transit corridors, bikeway and walkway facilities within or abutting the development as set forth in the Land Development Code and/or an adopted urban mobility plan; Guideline 8, Policy 8 states that Adequate street stubs for future roadway connections that support access and contribute to appropriate development of adjacent lands should be provided by new development and redevelopment; and Guideline 14. Policy 7 provides that the design and location of utility easements provide access for maintenance and repair and to minimize negative visual impacts. Any cost associated with the rights-of-way to be closed will be the responsibility of the applicant or developer. Adequate public facilities are available to serve existing and future needs of the community. Easements will be required as requested to utility agencies.

PUBLIC HEARING CASE NO. 17STREETS1018

RESOLVED, that the Louisville Metro Planning Commission does hereby **RECOMMEND** that the Louisville Metro Council **APPROVE** the request to close approximately 520 feet of an unimproved portion of the Reamers Road right-of-way, east of La Grange Rd.

The vote was as follows:

YES: Commissioners Brown, Lewis, Peterson, Smith, Tomes and Jarboe

NO: No one

NOT PRESENT AND NOT VOTING: Commissioners Carlson, Howard and

PUBLIC HEARING CASE NO. 18ZONE1000

Request: Change in zoning form C-1 to C-2 for existing tavern/bar

Project Name: T. Eddie's

Location: 1154 Logan Street
Owner: Thomas Combs
Applicant: Thomas Combs
Representative: Thomas Combs
Jurisdiction: Louisville Metro

Council District: 4 – Barbara Sexton Smith

Case Manager: Joel P. Dock, AICP, Planner II

The staff report prepared for this case was incorporated into the record. The Commissioners received this report in advance of the hearing, and this report was available to any interested party prior to the public hearing. (Staff report is part of the case file maintained in Planning and Design Services offices, 444 S. 5th Street.)

Agency Testimony:

00:16:36 Mr. Dock stated signs were posted on the site but the applicant failed to pick up/mail out notices and post the legal ad. Notices have since been sent and a legal advertisement posted for the August 2, 2018 Planning Commission public hearing.

Deliberation

00:17:23 Planning Commission deliberation.

An audio/visual recording of the Planning Commission hearing related to this case is available on the Planning & Design Services website, or you may contact the Customer Service staff to view the recording or to obtain a copy.

On a motion by Commissioner Brown, seconded by Commissioner Tomes, the following resolution was adopted.

RESOLVED, that the Louisville Metro Planning Commission does hereby **SCHEDULE** this case to be heard at the August 2, 2018 Planning Commission public hearing.

The vote was as follows:

YES: Commissioners Brown, Lewis, Peterson, Smith, Tomes and Jarboe

NO: No one

NOT PRESENT AND NOT VOTING: Commissioners Carlson, Howard and

PUBLIC HEARING CASE NO. 18ZONE1036

Request: Change in zoning from M-2 to EZ-1 for mixed-use

Project Name: 840 East Chestnut Street Location: 840 East Chestnut Street

Owner: Critical mass, LLC

Nancy Schoenhoff 840 East Chestnut Louisville, Ky. 40204

Applicant: Critical mass, LLC

Nancy Schoenhoff 840 East Chestnut Louisville, Ky. 40204

Representative: Critical mass, LLC

Nancy Schoenhoff 840 East Chestnut Louisville, Ky. 40204

Jurisdiction: Louisville Metro

Council District: 4 – Barbara Sexton Smith

Case Manager: Joel P. Dock, AICP, Planner II

Notice of this public hearing appeared in <u>The Courier Journal</u>, a notice was posted on the property, and notices were sent by first class mail to those adjoining property owners whose names were supplied by the applicants.

The staff report prepared for this case was incorporated into the record. The Commissioners received this report in advance of the hearing, and this report was available to any interested party prior to the public hearing. (Staff report is part of the case file maintained in Planning and Design Services offices, 444 S. 5th Street.)

Agency Testimony:

00:18:12 Mr. Dock discussed the case summary, standard of review and staff analysis from the staff report.

The following spoke in favor of this request:

Nancy Schoenhoff, 1604 Jaeger, Louisville, Ky. 40205 Jessica George, 1137 Rammers Avenue, Louisville, Ky. 40204 Ivor Chodkowski, 201 Bullitt Lane, Louisville, Ky. 40222 Kristopher Kelley, 5100 Greenhaven Lane, Goshen, Ky. 40026

PUBLIC HEARING CASE NO. 18ZONE1036

Greg Guelda, 927 East Madison Street, Louisville, Ky. 40204

Summary of testimony of those in favor:

- 00:25:20 Ms. Schoenhoff discussed the project and gave a power point presentation. The task is to build a flexible kitchen from the garden to the kitchen.
- 00:33:33 Ms. George supports the project as it fills a void in terms of creating a way for local food to be used throughout the season.
- 00:34:17 Mr. Chodkowski has known the applicant for 15 years and worked with her selling his products. Her ability to process local farmers' products is exemplary. The space she's asking for is necessary.
- 00:36:30 Mr. Kelley has known the applicant approximately 15 years and supports the project. She produces excellent food and knows how to work with the local farmers.
- 00:38:54 Mr. Guelda stated one of the biggest problems for crime are vacant buildings. Mr. Guelda said he's gotten nothing but rave reviews as to the character and quality of Ms. Schoenhoff and her work.
- 00:40:29 Commissioner Brown asked about the hours of operation and how odors (usually with deep fryers) will be mitigated. Ms. Schoenhoff said there won't be a fryer but the hours of operation will vary and asks for flexibility.
- 00:42:10 Commissioner Smith asked what would be done to mitigate noise, odors, etc. for the tenants upstairs. Ms. Schoenhoff said she is providing a fire separation drywall and installing a heavy duty vent, taking it as far away from the building as possible.
- 00:43:03 Mr. Whitty asked why there's no waiver request for the 200 ft setback. Mr. Dock stated that the EZ-1 zoning district states that this provision only requires consent from the Planning Commission.
- 00:45:13 Mr. Dock said the applicant wants to use Louisville zone banners therefore requesting to strike through 'banners' in proposed binding element 3. There was further discussion as to the necessity of amending this binding element.

Deliberation

00:47:40 Planning Commission deliberation.

PUBLIC HEARING CASE NO. 18ZONE1036

An audio/visual recording of the Planning Commission hearing related to this case is available on the Planning & Design Services website, or you may contact the Customer Service staff to view the recording or to obtain a copy.

Zoning Change from M-2 to EZ-1

On a motion by Commissioner Brown, seconded by Commissioner Smith, the following resolution based on the Cornerstone 2020 Staff Analysis and testimony heard today was adopted.

WHEREAS, the Louisville Metro Planning Commission finds that the proposal complies with Guideline 1 of Cornerstone 2020. The proposal preserves the existing grid pattern of streets, sidewalks and alleys as the existing facilities exhibit traditional corner commercial development at the intersection of a minor arterial roadway. The introduction of C-2 commercial uses on the subject site where they are currently prohibited greatly enhances the vitality of the existing structure and surrounding neighborhood by allowing a mix of neighborhood-serving uses such as offices, shops, and restaurants. No open spaces are impacted by the development. No new development is proposed on-site. And the proposal preserves existing buildings consistent with the predominate neighborhood building design.

WHEREAS, the Commission further finds that the proposal complies with Guideline 2 of Cornerstone 2020. A new center is not being created. The proposed zoning district incorporates into the exiting mixed-use pattern within the neighborhood. Sufficient population in the area exists to support a large variety of commercial and industrial uses permitted within by the district. The proposed zoning district utilizes the existing facilities on-site which are developed as traditional corner commercial. The subject site is located in a walkable urban neighborhood supported by TARC service; thus, supporting the use of alternative forms of transportation and encouraging vitality and sense of place. The proposal incorporates residential uses above retail and/or includes other mixed-use, multi-story retail buildings. The development is small and compact. Existing buildings are to be repurposed. Parking facilities will be located to the rear alley where access is traditionally obtained. No adverse impacts on pedestrian safety will result. Utilities are available as the site is located within the urban services district. And the subject site is located in a walkable urban neighborhood supported by TARC service.

WHEREAS, the Commission further finds that the proposal complies with Guideline 3 of Cornerstone 2020. The structure and its materials are not proposed to be changed. The proposal does not constitute a non-residential expansion into an existing residential area as it is currently zoned M-2. Traffic would appear to be negligible given the size and scale of the proposed development. No changes to the subject site have been

PUBLIC HEARING CASE NO. 18ZONE1036

proposed that would increase adverse impacts of its lighting on nearby properties, and on the night sky. The site is located within proximity to similar uses in an urban area that is well-connected to transit. No site work is being conducted that would require additional screening or buffering. Setbacks, lot dimensions and building heights are compatible with those of nearby developments that meet form district standards. Parking is being obtained from a rear alley in a manner consistent with the intent of alleys in traditional neighborhoods. And signage shall be in conformance with zoning district regulations.

WHEREAS, the Commission further finds that the proposal complies with Guideline 4 of Cornerstone 2020. Open space is not a required component of this plan and there are no apparent natural features on-site.

WHEREAS, the Commission further finds that the proposal complies with Guideline 5 of Cornerstone 2020. There are no apparent natural features on-site. The proposal includes the preservation, use or adaptive reuse of buildings, sites, districts and landscapes that are recognized as having historical or architectural value. And The development site does not appear to contain wet or highly permeable soils, severe, steep or unstable slopes with the potential for severe erosion.

WHEREAS, the Commission further finds that the proposal complies with Guideline 6 of Cornerstone 2020. The subject site is accessible by multiple means of transportation. The subject site is located in close proximity to the central business district and may be commonly associated with development in the downtown area. The proposed use constitutes a reinvestment and rehab in the downtown area. The subject site is currently zoned M-2 and the change to EZ-1 allows a slightly higher intensity of uses; however, the site is of a minimal scale and large industrial uses would not appear to be feasible. The proposed commercial components of the zoning district are appropriately located at an intersection of minor arterial roadways and a transit corridor running from downtown to residential neighborhoods South of the urban core. And the development will have less than 100 employees and is located along an arterial roadway.

WHEREAS, the Commission further finds that the proposal complies with Guideline 7 of Cornerstone 2020. Existing conditions do not necessitate the need for contributions. The subject site is located in a walkable urban neighborhood supported by TARC service. No right-of-way dedication is necessitated by the proposed development. And the proposal includes adequate parking spaces to support the use.

WHEREAS, the Commission further finds that the proposal complies with Guideline 8 of Cornerstone 2020. Access to the subject site currently containing an industrial use is through existing areas. The site is of a minimal scale and large industrial uses would not be feasible. And the proposal does not impact the existing hierarchy of streets.

PUBLIC HEARING CASE NO. 18ZONE1036

WHEREAS, the Commission further finds that the proposal complies with Guideline 9 of Cornerstone 2020the proposal provides, where appropriate, for the movement of pedestrians, bicyclists and transit users around and through the development as the subject site is located in a walkable urban neighborhood supported by TARC service; and

WHEREAS, the Commission further finds that the proposal complies with Guideline 10 of Cornerstone 2020. The preliminary plan has received approval from the Metropolitan Sewer District.

WHEREAS, the Commission further finds that the proposal complies with Guideline 12 of Cornerstone 2020. The proposal has been reviewed by APCD and found to not have a negative impact on air quality.

WHEREAS, the Commission further finds that the proposal complies with Guideline 13 of Cornerstone 2020. No natural corridors are apparent on-site.

WHEREAS, the Commission further finds that the proposal complies with Guideline 14 of Cornerstone 2020. The proposal is located in an area served by existing utilities or planned for utilities as it is within the urban services district. The proposal has access to an adequate supply of potable water and water for fire-fighting purposes as it is within the urban services district. And the proposal has adequate means of sewage treatment and disposal to protect public health and to protect water quality in lakes and streams as it is within the urban services district.

RESOLVED, that the Louisville Metro Planning Commission does hereby **RECOMMEND** to the Louisville Metro Council the change in zoning from M-2, Industrial to EZ-1, Enterprise Zone on property described in the attached legal description be **APPROVED**.

The vote was as follows:

YES: Commissioners Brown, Lewis, Peterson, Smith, Tomes and Jarboe NO: No one

NOT PRESENT AND NOT VOTING: Commissioners Carlson, Howard and Robinson

Development Plan and Binding Elements

On a motion by Commissioner Brown, seconded by Commissioner Peterson, the following resolution based on the standard of review and staff analysis and testimony heard today was adopted.

PUBLIC HEARING CASE NO. 18ZONE1036

WHEREAS, the Louisville Metro Planning Commission finds that the applicant will be revitalizing an existing corner commercial structure in a Traditional Neighborhood; and

WHEREAS, the Commission further finds that provisions for safe and efficient vehicular and pedestrian transportation within and around the development and the community has been provided as sidewalks and connections from the structure to the sidewalks are exiting and the site is located in a walkable and well-connected urban neighborhood; and

WHEREAS, the Commission further finds that open space is not a required for the proposed development; and

WHEREAS, the Commission further finds that the Metropolitan Sewer District has approved the preliminary development plan and will ensure the provision of adequate drainage facilities on the subject site in order to prevent drainage problems from occurring on the subject site or within the community; and

WHEREAS, the Commission further finds that the overall site design and land uses are compatible with the existing and future development of the area as the site is an existing industrial use within a mixed-use urban neighborhood and the changes to the sue of the building will allow for a greater range of goods and services to be provided and produced; and

WHEREAS, the Commission further finds the development plan conforms to applicable guidelines and policies of the Comprehensive Plan as demonstrated in Attachment 3 of the staff report.

RESOLVED, that the Louisville Metro Planning Commission does hereby **APPROVE** the Detailed District Development Plan **SUBJECT** to the following Binding Elements:

1. The development shall be in accordance with the approved district development plan and agreed upon binding elements unless amended pursuant to the Zoning District Regulations. Any changes/additions/alterations of any binding element(s) shall be submitted to the Planning Commission for review and approval; any changes/additions/alterations not so referred shall not be valid.

2. The following M-2 uses shall not be permitted on the site:

Auction sales, outdoor

Building materials (cement, lime, sand, gravel, lumber, and the like), storage and sales

Bus garage and repair shop

Exposition building or center

PUBLIC HEARING CASE NO. 18ZONE1036

Fairgrounds

Heavy truck and other heavy motor driven vehicles: sales, rental, repair and storage

Lumber yards

Railroad freight terminals and yards

River terminals

Truck or transfer terminal, freight and motor freight and motor freight stations Waterfront shipping

Uses, manufacture, processing, treatment, or storage of the following:

Air conditioning, commercial

Aircraft and aircraft parts

Aluminum extrusion, rolling, fabrication, and forming

Animal pound

Assembly and repair of automobiles, bicycles, carriages, engines (new and rebuilt), motorcycles, trailers, trucks, wagons, including parts

Battery, storage (wet cell)

Boat manufacturing and repair

Coal and coke, storage and sales

Concrete products (except central mixing and proportioning plant) Culverts Firearms

Foundry products (electrical only) Implements, agricultural or farm Ink manufacture (mixing only)

Insecticides, fungicides, disinfectants, and related industrial and household chemical compounds (blending only) Machine, tool, die, and gauge shops Paint and coating, except manufacturing gun cotton nitro-cellulose lacquers and reactive resin cooking

Pencils

Perfumes or perfumed soaps, commercial

Plating, electrolytic process

Plumbing supplies

Poultry or rabbit, packing or slaughtering (wholesale)

Rubber and synthetic-treated fabric products (excluding all rubber or synthetic processing) such as washers, gloves, footwear, bathing caps, atomizers, or similar products

Sheet metal products from metal stamping or extrusion, including containers, costume jewelry, pins and needles, razor blades, bottle caps, buttons, kitchen utensils, or similar products Shipping containers (corrugated board, fiber or wirebound) Tire re-treading and vulcanizing shop

Tobacco (including curing) or tobacco products

Tire re-treading and vulcanizing shop

3. No outdoor advertising signs (billboards), small free-standing (temporary) signs, pennants, or balloons shall be permitted on the site.

PUBLIC HEARING CASE NO. 18ZONE1036

- 4. Outdoor lighting shall be directed down and away from surrounding residential properties. Lighting fixtures shall have a 90 degree cutoff and height of the light standard shall be set so that no light source is visible off-site.
- 5. There shall be no outdoor music (live, piped, radio or amplified), outdoor entertainment, or outdoor PA system audible beyond the property line.
- 6. The property owner/developer shall provide copies of these binding elements to tenants, contractors and other parties engaged in development of this project, and shall inform them of the content of these binding elements. Further, the property owner/developer shall require contractors to similarly notify all of their sub-contractors whose duties relate to the binding elements. The property owner/developer shall ensure their compliance with the binding elements.
- 7. A license agreement, if required, shall be obtained for the installation of bike racks and handicap ramp located within the right-of-way of S. Campbell Street.
- 8. All M-3 uses shall be prohibited, except the use, manufacture, processing, treatment, or storage of the following:

Aromatic Flavoring material (essential oils)

Cider and vinegar

Molasses

Oils, shortenings, and fats

Pickles, vegetable relish, & sauces

Sauerkraut

Pottery and porcelain products (coal-fired, including bathroom or kitchen equipment, or similar products)

Soaps and soap products

- 9. Outdoor storage, processing, treatment, or manufacturing associated with an industrial use is prohibited.
- 10. The Louisville Metro Planning Commission consents to those uses as shown on the approved district development plan and all other uses not prohibited by these binding elements, notwithstanding the fact that they may be located within 200 feet of a residential use.

The vote was as follows:

YES: Commissioners Brown, Lewis, Peterson, Smith, Tomes and Jarboe NOT PRESENT AND NOT VOTING: Commissioners Carlson, Howard and Robinson

PUBLIC HEARING CASE NO. 18ZONE1036

PUBLIC HEARING CASE NO. 17ZONE1035

Request: Change in zoning from R-4 to R-5A and OR-1 for multi-

family and office development with waivers and detailed

district development plan

Project Name: Allen-Brooke Meadows Location: 6305 Campground Raod

Owner: David Mattingly Applicant: David Mattingly

Representative: Milestone Design Group, Inc.

Jurisdiction: Louisville Metro
Council District: 1 – Jessica Green

Case Manager: Joel P. Dock, AICP, Planner II

Notice of this public hearing appeared in <u>The Courier Journal</u>, a notice was posted on the property, and notices were sent by first class mail to those adjoining property owners whose names were supplied by the applicants.

The staff report prepared for this case was incorporated into the record. The Commissioners received this report in advance of the hearing, and this report was available to any interested party prior to the public hearing. (Staff report is part of the case file maintained in Planning and Design Services offices, 444 S. 5th Street.)

Agency Testimony:

00:54:14 Mr. Dock discussed the case summary, standard of review and staff analysis from the staff report.

The following spoke in favor of this request:

Mark Madison, 108 Daventry Lane, Suite 300, Louisville, Ky. 40223 David Mattingly, 8508 Glaser Lane, Louisville, Ky. 40291

Summary of testimony of those in favor:

01:02:07 Mr. Mattingly stated the project will be an affordable alternative to apartment homes. Also, there will be lots of green space with yards and garages for the tenants.

Mr. Mattingly said he didn't know the property was in close proximity to the Louisville Loop but had always intended to have access to the park.

01:04:28 Mr. Madison gave a power point presentation. The leasing office/management will be on site. People will have the option to buy as well. It's a low

PUBLIC HEARING CASE NO. 17ZONE1035

intense project and complies with the Comprehensive Plan. Also, the owner will grant an easement and contribute \$4600.

The following spoke in opposition to this request:

Jo Anne Schletter, 4423 Wilshire Avenue, Louisville, Ky. 40216 Eunice Farrow, 4315 Lees Lane, Louisville, Ky. 40216 Melanie Elkins, 4105 Lees Lane, Louisville, Ky. 40216

Summary of testimony of those in opposition:

01:18:23 Ms. Schletter stated the pictures are deceiving as it's a very busy intersection at Campground Rd. The applicant needs to provide sidewalks.

01:12:19 Ms. Farrow stated she's against rental property. The sidewalk is needed to get to the park.

01:24:45 Ms. Elkins stated she's concerned about traffic and environmental hazards.

Rebuttal

01:27:20 Mr. Madison stated they submitted a trip generation summary, but it was decided by Metro Public Works and the Dept. of Highways that the project doesn't need additional study. It's a low density development. The corner is elevated but will be brought down per Metro Public Works. It was suggested by staff to request the sidewalk waive because Louisville Loop has its own plans. The project is not government assistance. Regarding environmental concerns, there's a park and there was farm land - there's been no indication for contamination. If there are any issues, the owner will be obligated to handle them.

Deliberation

01:31:08 Planning Commission deliberation. The commissioners agree on the following: traffic is not an issue; rental property is not an issue; nice housing opportunity for the area; applicant has worked with Metro Public Works for connectivity; efficient use of land; attractive project (won't detract from neighborhood); Louisville Loop work is positive aspect; and no issues with environmental issues, if so Mr. Mattingly will be liable.

An audio/visual recording of the Planning Commission hearing related to this case is available on the Planning & Design Services website, or you may contact the Customer Service staff to view the recording or to obtain a copy.

PUBLIC HEARING CASE NO. 17ZONE1035

Zoning Change from R-4 to R-5A and OR-1

On a motion by Commissioner Brown, seconded by Commissioner Peterson, the following resolution based on the Cornerstone 2020 Staff Analysis and testimony heard today was adopted.

WHEREAS, the Louisville Metro Planning Commission finds that the proposal complies with Guideline 1 of Cornerstone 2020. The subject site is not located within a neighborhood center; however, the scale would appear to be appropriate and service areas are located on Cane Run Road which is accessible by bike, foot, or car. Cane Run provides TARC service to Downtown, Riverport, and Lyndon. The proposed office use is classified as low-intensity use and is intended to serve the owner/developer of the project. The residential component will have limited impact as it is at the edge of the low-density single-family community. Camp Ground Rd and Lees Lane are primary collectors serving Cane Run Road.

WHEREAS, the Commission further finds that the proposal complies with Guideline 2 of Cornerstone 2020. The proposed development is compact and results in an efficient land use pattern and cost-effective infrastructure investment as 38 dwellings are being provided in combination with drainage detention, vehicle use areas, and walks. The proposal incorporates a new housing type into an existing single-family area and does so while also incorporating an office use. The proposal includes a combination of multifamily with an office use. The development utilizes the land in an effective manner. 36 of the 38 units utilize a single access point from Camp Ground Road which balances safety, traffic, transit, pedestrian, environmental and aesthetic concerns. Utilities will be provided as necessary. The proposal is designed to support easy access by bicycle, car and transit and by pedestrians and persons with disabilities as walks and trails have been provided on-site. Parking for each units is located upon private driveways.

WHEREAS, the Commission further finds that the proposal complies with Guideline 3 of Cornerstone 2020. Building materials are consistent with common materials and design found throughout the community. Because an office use is low-intensity and immediately abutting this small office proposal are industrial zoning districts the impact of the office use on the residential zoning districts would be minimal as traffic would be limited and scale would not be out of character. There would not appear to be any odor or emissions associated with the development. Traffic produced would be minimal and would not result in a significantly greater demand on the roadway network than exists for the industrial uses and districts to the North. Further, roadways are primary collectors fronting the subject site and traffic for increased housing units would not be directed through residential community to the Southwest. Lighting will be in compliance with LDC 4.1.3. Camp Ground and Lees Lane are Primary collector roadways providing access to Cane Run Road where expressways and public transportation is accessible. The proposal provides appropriate transitions between uses that are

PUBLIC HEARING CASE NO. 17ZONE1035

substantially different in scale and intensity or density of development such as landscaped buffer yards, vegetative berms, compatible building design and materials, height restrictions, or setback requirements. Buffers have been provided where appropriate. The proposal is not incompatible with the surrounding area as the attached sidewall concept is substantially the same as single-family living. Setbacks, lot dimensions and building heights are compatible with those of nearby developments that meet form district standards. Parking located adjacent to residences have been mitigated by appropriate landscaping. The proposal includes screening and buffering of parking and circulation areas adjacent to the street, and uses design features or landscaping to fill gaps created by surface parking lots. No surface lots are provided on the residential component and the parking for the office use is minimal. And signage will be in compliance with Ch.8 of the LDC.

WHEREAS, the Commission further finds that the proposal complies with Guideline 4 of Cornerstone 2020. The subject property is located and connects to an immediately adjacent park. Any open space provided on the subject site would be above and beyond what is necessary to ensure the well-being of future residents. The proposal integrates natural features into the pattern of development through tree preservation along the adjacent park.

WHEREAS, the Commission further finds that the proposal complies with Guideline 5 of Cornerstone 2020. The proposal respects the natural features of the site through sensitive site design, avoids substantial changes to the topography and minimizes property damage and environmental degradation resulting from disturbance of natural system. There are no historic resources on site. And MSD construction approval will be required, which may include ACOE approval.

WHEREAS, the Commission further finds that the proposal complies with Guideline 7 of Cornerstone 2020. The proposal will contribute its proportional share of the cost of roadway improvements and other services and public facilities made necessary by the development through physical improvements to these facilities, contribution of money, or other means as sidewalks are provided and contributions to the Louisville Loop are being made. The proposal promotes mass transit, bicycle and pedestrian use and provides amenities to support these modes of transportation as sidewalks are provided and contributions to the Louisville Loop are being made. The proposal's transportation facilities are compatible with and support access to surrounding land uses, and contribute to the appropriate development of adjacent lands as the developer is helping to facilitate the construction of the Louisville Loop. The proposal includes the dedication of rights-of-way for street, transit corridors, bikeway and walkway facilities within or abutting the development as the developer is helping to facilitate the construction of the Louisville Loop. Adequate parking is provided. And cross access is being provided to the adjacent park through the development site.

PUBLIC HEARING CASE NO. 17ZONE1035

WHEREAS, the Commission further finds that the proposal complies with Guideline 8 of Cornerstone 2020. Stub streets aren't necessary for the proposal as it is surrounded by industrial use and public park. Access to the development site is from a collector level road though areas of similar intensity. And the hierarchy of streets is not impacted as a private road is being provided to serve dwellings and no connection to abutting property is required.

WHEREAS, the Commission further finds that the proposal complies with Guideline 9 of Cornerstone 2020. The proposal provides, where appropriate, for the movement of pedestrians, bicyclists and transit users around and through the development as the Loop will eventually be connected through the property and walks are provided to preserve pedestrian access.

WHEREAS, the Commission further finds that the proposal complies with Guideline 10 of Cornerstone 2020. The proposal's drainage plans Have been approved by MSD.

WHEREAS, the Commission further finds that the proposal complies with Guideline 12 of Cornerstone 2020. The proposal has been reviewed by APCD and found to not have a negative impact on air quality.

WHEREAS, the Commission further finds that the proposal complies with Guideline 13 of Cornerstone 2020. The proposal includes additions and connections to a system of natural corridors that can provide habitat areas and allow for migration as park connection is being made.

WHEREAS, the Commission further finds that the proposal complies with Guideline 2 of Cornerstone 2020. Utilities appear to be available. The proposal has access to an adequate supply of potable water and water for fire-fighting purposes. And the proposal has adequate means of sewage treatment and disposal to protect public health and to protect water quality in lakes and streams.

RESOLVED, that the Louisville Metro Planning Commission does hereby **RECOMMEND** to the Louisville Metro Council the change in zoning from R-4, Single Family Residential to R-5A, Multi-family Residential and OR-1, Office Residential on property described in the attached legal description be **APPROVED**.

The vote was as follows:

YES: Commissioners Brown, Lewis, Peterson, Smith, Tomes and Jarboe

NO: No one

NOT PRESENT AND NOT VOTING: Commissioners Carlson, Howard and

PUBLIC HEARING CASE NO. 17ZONE1035

On a motion by Commissioner Brown, seconded by Commissioner Peterson, the following resolution based on the standard of review and staff analysis was adopted.

Waiver of Land Development Code (LDC), section 10.2.13 to omit interior landscaping requirement

WHEREAS, the waiver will not adversely affect adjacent property owners as the proposed vehicle use areas function similarly to neighborhood streets which do not contain interior landscape areas; and

WHEREAS, Guideline 3, Policy 9 of Cornerstone 2020 calls for the protection of the character of residential areas, roadway corridors and public spaces from visual intrusions and mitigate when appropriate. Guideline 13, Policy 4 calls for ensuring appropriate landscape design standards for different land uses within urbanized, suburban, and rural areas. The waiver will not violate these specific guidelines as vehicle use areas function similarly to neighborhood streets which do not contain interior landscape areas. The minimum tree canopy requirements and perimeter buffering will be provided; and

WHEREAS, the Louisville Metro Planning Commission finds, the extent of the waiver of the regulation is the minimum necessary to afford relief to the applicant as the proposed vehicle use areas function similarly to neighborhood streets which do not contain interior landscape areas; and

WHEREAS, the Louisville Metro Planning Commission further finds the strict application of the provisions would create an unnecessary hardship on the applicant as the proposed vehicle use areas function similarly to neighborhood streets which do not contain interior landscape areas and the provision of interior landscape areas would be inconsistent with the design of the project and typical residential street design.

Waiver of LDC, section 10.2.4 to encroach upon the 50' LBA along the northeast boundary

WHEREAS, the waiver will not adversely affect adjacent property owners as the adjacent use would typically require the LBA but as the site is already developed the provision of the LBA must be provided on the subject site. All landscaping material and screening will be provided as required; and

WHEREAS, Guideline 3, Policy 9 of Cornerstone 2020 calls for the protection of the character of residential areas, roadway corridors and public spaces from visual intrusions and mitigate when appropriate. Guideline 13, Policy 4 calls for ensuring appropriate landscape design standards for different land uses within urbanized,

PUBLIC HEARING CASE NO. 17ZONE1035

suburban, and rural areas. The adjacent use contains a residential use and vacant space prior to reaching a lumber yard. All landscaping material will be provided as required and the majority of the buffer is preserved; and

WHEREAS, the Louisville Metro Planning Commission finds, the extent of the waiver of the regulation is the minimum necessary to afford relief to the applicant as the majority of the buffer and planting material will be provided; and

WHEREAS, the Louisville Metro Planning Commission further finds the strict application of the provisions of the regulation would create an unnecessary hardship on the applicant as the adjacent use would typically require the LBA but as the site is already developed the provision of the LBA must be provided on the subject site. All landscaping material and screening will be provided as required.

Waiver of LDC, section 5.8.1.B to eliminate the required sidewalk along Lees Lane

WHEREAS, the waiver will not adversely affect adjacent property owners as the area is not currently connected with sidewalks and the developer will be helping to improve the conditions of the adjacent property owners through contributions to the Louisville Loop in the area; and

WHEREAS, the Louisville Metro Planning Commission finds, Guideline 9, Policy 1 of Cornerstone 2020 calls for new development and redevelopment to provide, where appropriate, for the movement of pedestrians, bicyclists and transit users. The Louisville Loop is planned in the area requested for the sidewalk to be waived. The Louisville Loop provides for a greater variety of users and accessibility than a standard sidewalk. The developer has agreed to help facilitate the future Louisville Loop project in the area by grading the areas of the future Loop, both within the subject site and along the frontage, and provide a monetary contribution of \$4,600 and an easement through the development site to connect the Loop path along Lees Lane to the Riverside Gardens Park as shown on the development plan; and

WHEREAS, the Louisville Metro Planning Commission further finds the extent of the waiver of the regulation is the minimum necessary to afford relief to the applicant as any standard sidewalk constructed would be removed for the eventual construction of the Louisville Loop and the developer has a agreed to certain conditions through the change in zoning process.

RESOLVED, that the Louisville Metro Planning Commission does hereby **APPROVE** the waiver of Land Development Code (LDC), section 10.2.13 to omit interior landscaping requirement as shown on the development plan; a waiver of LDC, section 10.2.4 to encroach upon the 50' LBA along the northeast boundary as shown on the development plan; and a waiver of LDC, section 5.8.1.B to eliminate the required

PUBLIC HEARING CASE NO. 17ZONE1035

sidewalk along Lees lane ON CONDITION of the adoption of binding element number 8 of the detailed district development plan.

The vote was as follows:

YES: Commissioners Brown, Lewis, Peterson, Smith, Tomes and Jarboe NOT PRESENT AND NOT VOTING: Commissioners Carlson, Howard and Robinson

Development Plan and Binding Elements

On a motion by Commissioner Brown, seconded by Commissioner Tomes, the following resolution based on the standard of review and staff analysis was adopted.

WHEREAS, minimum tree canopy requirements will be met and the subject site connects through tree canopy areas to an adjacent public park; and

WHEREAS, provisions for safe and efficient vehicular and pedestrian transportation within and around the development and the community has been provided as a sidewalk will provided along Camp Ground Road, contributions will be made for the Louisville Loop, internal street are consistent with common street design, and walks have been provided through the development to the public park; and

WHEREAS, the subject property is located and connects to an immediately adjacent park. Any open space provided on the subject site would be above and beyond what is necessary to ensure the well-being of future residents; and

WHEREAS, the Metropolitan Sewer District has approved the preliminary development plan and will ensure the provisions of adequate drainage facilities on the subject site in order to prevent drainage problems from occurring on the subject site or within the community; and

WHEREAS, the Louisville Metro Planning Commission finds, the overall site design and land uses are compatible with the surrounding area as appropriate transitions have been made. Buffers have been provided where appropriate. Setbacks, lot dimensions and building heights are compatible with those of nearby developments that meet form district standards; and

WHEREAS, the Louisville Metro Planning Commission further finds the development plan conforms to applicable guidelines and policies of the Comprehensive Plan as demonstrated in the *Cornerstone 2020 Staff Analysis* for the change in zoning request contained in *Attachment 3* of the staff report.

PUBLIC HEARING CASE NO. 17ZONE1035

RESOLVED, that the Louisville Metro Planning Commission does hereby **APPROVE** the Detailed District Development Plan **SUBJECT** to the following Binding Elements:

- 1. The development shall be in accordance with the approved district development plan, all applicable sections of the Land Development Code (LDC) and agreed upon binding elements unless amended pursuant to the Land Development Code. Any changes/additions/alterations of any binding element(s) shall be submitted to the Planning Commission or the Planning Commission's designee for review and approval; any changes/additions/alterations not so referred shall not be valid.
- 2. No outdoor advertising signs, small freestanding signs, pennants, balloons, or banners shall be permitted on the site.
- 3. Construction fencing shall be erected when off-site trees or tree canopy exists within 3' of a common property line. Fencing shall be in place prior to any grading or construction to protect the existing root systems from compaction. The fencing shall enclose the entire area beneath the tree canopy and shall remain in place until all construction is completed. No parking, material storage or construction activities are permitted within the protected area.
- 4. Before any permit (including but not limited to building, parking lot, change of use, site disturbance, alteration permit or demolition permit) is requested:

 a. The development plan must receive full construction approval from Louisville
 Metro Department of Codes and Regulations Construction Permits and
 Transportation Planning Review and the Metropolitan Sewer District.
 - b. Encroachment permits must be obtained from the Kentucky Department of Transportation, Bureau of Highways
 - c. A minor subdivision plat shall be recorded creating the lot lines as shown on the development plan and dedicating the right-of-way as shown on the approved district development plan. A copy of the recorded instrument shall be submitted to the Division of Planning and Design Services.
 - d. The property owner/developer must obtain approval of a detailed plan for screening (buffering/landscaping) as described in Chapter 10 prior to requesting a building permit. Such plan shall be implemented prior to occupancy of the site and shall be maintained thereafter.
 - e. A Tree Preservation Plan in accordance with Chapter 10 of the LDC shall be reviewed and approved prior to obtaining approval for site disturbance.
- 5. A certificate of occupancy must be received from the appropriate code enforcement department prior to occupancy of the structure or land for the proposed use. All binding elements requiring action and approval must be

PUBLIC HEARING CASE NO. 17ZONE1035

implemented prior to requesting issuance of the certificate of occupancy, unless specifically waived by the Planning Commission.

- 6. The applicant, developer, or property owner shall provide copies of these binding elements to tenants, purchasers, contractors, subcontractors and other parties engaged in development of this site and shall advise them of the content of these binding elements. These binding elements shall run with the land and the owner of the property and occupant of the property shall at all times be responsible for compliance with these binding elements. At all times during development of the site, the applicant and developer, their heirs, successors; and assignees, contractors, subcontractors, and other parties engaged in development of the site, shall be responsible for compliance with these binding elements.
- 7. A general cross access agreement or other legal instrument in a form acceptable to Planning Commission's Legal Counsel shall be recorded allowing for pedestrian access from Campground Road through the development site along designated pathways to Riverside Gardens Park.

8. Louisville Loop:

- a) Developer shall grade for a multiuse path within the limits shown on the approved development plan for the construction of the Louisville Loop. Grading shall occur no sooner than construction plan approval but be completed prior to the issuance of the first certificate of occupancy. For the grading plan, the developer will provide heir site grading plan to Public Works who will update the grading plan to include grading for the Louisville Loop trail. The final grading plan that includes the Louisville Loop Trail and site development will be returned to the applicant's engineer for final review and revisions as it relates to the overall site design. Public Works will have final review and comments during the site construction plan approval process.
- b) Developer shall contribute \$4,600 for the construction of the Louisville Loop across the Lees Ln frontage. Contribution is required to be paid to Public Works prior to construction plan approval.
- c) Developer shall grant an easement for a multiuse path within the limits shown on the approved development plan to accommodate the construction of the Louisville Loop. Easement shall be granted at developer's expense within 60day of written request from Public Works but no sooner than construction plan approval.
- 9. In the event that the property is to be developed under a condominium regime, Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions ("CCRs") shall be prepared by the developer to be submitted to and reviewed and approved by Planning Commission legal counsel, prior to certificate of occupancy, for consistency with

PUBLIC HEARING CASE NO. 17ZONE1035

any binding elements that mandate inclusion in the CCRs, as well as the inclusion of the following requirements:

- (a) all road, drainage, sanitary sewer, water, other necessary infrastructure and other required landscaping and facilities shall be installed by the developer prior to turn-over of maintenance responsibilities to the Home Owners Association ("HOA");
- (b) any shared water meters and property service connections for sanitary sewers shall be the sole responsibility of the HOA;
- (c) any water, sewer and drainage facilities that cross lot lines shall be included in blanket easements for purposes of both lot owner and HOA access and maintenance; and
- (d) where attached residences are proposed, easements shall be provided to provide for incidental encroachments, property maintenance and repair.

The vote was as follows:

YES: Commissioners Brown, Lewis, Peterson, Smith, Tomes and Jarboe

NO: No one

NOT PRESENT AND NOT VOTING: Commissioners Carlson, Howard and

STANDING COMMITTEE REPORTS

Planning Director

Land Development and Transportation Committee No report given.
Site Inspection Committee No report given.
Planning Committee No report given.
Development Review Committee No report given.
Policy and Procedures Committee No report given.
CHAIRPERSON/DIRECTOR'S REPORT No report given.
ADJOURNMENT
The meeting adjourned at approximately 2:42 p.m.
Chair